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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Portland Art Museum occupies a full block and a portion of a closec 
street fronting on the South Park Blocks in downtown Portland. The build­ 
ing originally incorporated portions of the old Ladd School, purchased by 
the Portland Art Association in 1931. Two wings were constructed from de­ 
signs by Pietro Belluschi of A, E. Doyle and Associate in 1932 and 1938. 
In the Ayer Wing, the first to be constructed, are the entrance, sculpture 
court and galleries. The Hirsch, or second Wing provided two floors of 
additional gallery space. The recently completed and most extensive ad­ 
dition, known as the Madison Street Wing, houses an auditorium and new fac­ 
ilities for the Museum Art School. It too was designed by Belluschi.

The following are excerps quoted directly from Marion Dean Ross, "The 
Museum Building As a Work of Art," Notes on the Collections of the Portland 
Art Museum, Number 7 (1967),

The Ayer Wing (1932), facing east, occupying the entire frontage on the 
Park Blocks.

The facade on the Park Blocks, seen in elevation, 
presents a dignified and calmly composed design of five 
principal divisions- symmetrically balanced about the 
triple entrance*

While this five bay composition is essentially 
traditional* the detail is not. Surviving studies 
show that historical forms were at least considered, 
but in the end the derivative character was eliminated 
until only the symmetrical grouping of the masses re­ 
mained to give a hint of the evolution of the design. 
The materials are fine and well used. There are no 
extraneous ornaments. The orange-red brick is admir­ 
ably accented by the travertine moldings of the door 
and window frames and of the base course and crowning 
band. The detail is used in traditional positions but 
with a quite unusual form. The travertine band at the 
top of the wall can hardly be described as an entablature 
though it is in the place an entablature would have had 
in a classical design. It is interesting that the ar­ 
chitect, in the process of eliminating historical fea­ 
tures, reduced the topmost member to a narrow molding 
rather than replacing the cornice with -a wide over-Swing­ 
ing slab which might have well happened in the period. 
The elegant frames of the triple doors are repeated in 
long windows in the 'north and south ends of the building.

The interior of the Ayer Wing was designed to be 
part of a larger structure which had it been built in 
time, would probably have had a strongly marked central 
axis. As it was, it contained a spacious lobby with a 
(Continued)
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PORTLAND ART MUSEUM (CONTINUED)

2. Location

The Portland Art Museum is in the NE 1/4, Sec. 4, T. IS., R. IE, of 
the Willamette Meridian, Multnomah County, Oregon, in Portland, original 
plot, Block 223, Assessors Map #3128.

7. Description

larger and a smaller gallery on each side to the 
north and south. The plan was repeated on the 
second floor. A large opening opposite the en­ 
trance gave access to a hall for the display of 
casts which was contrived in part from the struc­ 
ture built on the foundations of the old Ladd 
School. The new galleries were very simply treated 
with a minimum of architectural detail. This de­ 
tail for the most part followed sound customary 
practice3 ultimately derived from the forms of 
classical moldings. The entrance lobby offered 
the opportunity for somewhat more elaboration. 
While the detail is generally unobtrusive, pat­ 
terns such as those in the ceiling and in the 
door grilles betray a more dated character than 
almost anything else in the design. In general, 
great care was taken to have the ventilation and 
lighting of the galleries up-to-date and appro­ 
priate for their intended use. The most important 
feature of the interior was the lighting of the 
upper picture galleries. This* obviously a matter 
of the utmost importance in the design of picture 
galleries, was here studied with particular care 
so that the walls would be amply and evenly lighted 
with a minimum of glare on the picture surfaces. 
All the notices about the new building in the ar­ 
chitectural and museum journals called attention 
to the excellence of this feature. To achieve this 
Mr. Belluschi introduced a system of four-sided moni­ 
tors cantilevered over the center of the galleries in­ 
stead of the more customary skylights. These moni­ 
tors provide an admirable source of light and inci­ 
dentally add a feature of spatial interest to the 
rectangular rooms. It was noted at the time that 
this was the first use of monitor lighting in a
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7. Description

a museum in the United States, and it was certainly 
uncommon in Europe though. Sir John Soane had used a 
somewhat similar feature in his Dulwich Gallery in 
1811-14. The monitors rise above the roof line and 
are not hidden by a parapet on the exterior. How- 
ever3 due to their location over the center of the 
galleries they do not count as an important feature 
in the usual view of the building although their 
forms are carefully related to the mass of the build­ 
ing below. In elevation drawings they can be seen 
as frankly designed glass-sided boxes.

The Hirsch Wing (1938), running along the south side of the block to 
Tenth Avenue.

Only five years after the construction of the 
Ayer Wing3 the Museum was fortunate in receiving 
funds to build a considerable addition. For the 
Hirsch Wing3 opened in 1938^ the architect was again 
Pietro Belluschi; the firm was still nominally A. E. 
Doyle and Associate. Though the first section had 
been planned to have additions^ the actual form they 
would take undoubtedly had to wait until funds became 
available. The generous Hirsch gift made possible 
an addition approximately doubling the exhibition 
space of the museum.

The exterior of the Hirsch Wing running along 
the south side of the block to Tenth Avenue harmon­ 
iously continued the general character of tine main 
facade. The elegant vertical proportions of the 
end windows in the Ayer Wing were used throughout 
the ground floor, of the new construction thus elimi­ 
nating the somewhat dated character of the horizontal 
windows. The new wing included two unusual features. 
One was a large sculpture court which replaced the 
temporary hall where the collection of casts had been 
displayed. Opening into both stories and rising 
above the ceiling height of the second floor galler­ 
ies, this room became partially the focal point of
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7. Description

the Museum with dramatic views into it from both 
levels.

The Sculpture Court with its large, sym­ 
metrically placed north skylight, served to ex­ 
tend the balanced spatial composition of the Park 
Front and at the same time to form an approach to 
the new galleries asymmetrically located to the 
southwest of the Ayer Wing. Very ingeniously it 
belongs spatially to both the Ayer and Hirsch Wings. 
The symmetrical formality of the Ayer Wing which 
might have become too rigid and conventional was 
thus given an organic unity with the new construc­ 
tion. From this point onward the museum building 
could grow to fill the entire block ...without 
the necessity of following an axial pattern ...

Through openings framed by vertical traver­ 
tine slabs, the other unusual feature of the Hirsch 
Wing could be seen from the Sculpture Court. This 
was a small enclosed court, open to the sky, which 
was planned for the display of sculpture in an in­ 
timate but outdoor setting. From the point of 
view of the plan, this outdoor court served to 
articulate the space and differentiate the large 
masses of the two gallery wings. From the out­ 
side, along Jefferson Street, it not only served 
to articulate the facade, but it gave a tantiliz- 
ing and slightly mysterious suggestion to the ex­ 
terior, suggesting to the passerby the need to 
explore the interior. As an exhibition space 
this little court was beautifully adapted for 
the display of moderately scaled pieces of sculp­ 
ture. It was simply but very elegantly detailed. 
Henry-Russell Hitchcock writing in an article 
which appeared in California Arts and Architecture 
for December 1940, said, ". . . the little ex­ 
terior court with its cantilevered travertine 
slab roof around the edge recalls the purity and 
richness of Mies van der -Rohe rs finest work."
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This was high"praise indeed from one of the lead­ 
ing historians of modern architecture. This court 
has now been converted into an indoor gallery (used 
at first as a Members' Room) 3 not entirely to the 
advantage of the architecture.

The galleries in the Eirsch Wing, while not 
displaying the unusual features of the great Sculp­ 
ture Court or little outdoor court, were designed 
with the same care for lighting and ventilation 
that had characterized the earlier ones in the 
Ayer Wing. The tall windows in the ground floor 
galleries were an improvement over the horizontal 
strips in elegance and dignity if not in actual 
lighting. Monitors were again successfully used 
over the upper galleries. The corridor on both 
floors was also adapted for exhibition purposes. 
On .the ground floor it had to be illuminated by 
artificial light, but on the second floor light 
from a north angled skylight was cleverly dif­ 
fused and filtered onto the walls through a 
screen of metal fins.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Portland Art Museum was the first of nationally prominent Pa­ 
cific Northwest architect Pietro Belluschi's buildings to come to national 
attention. In particular, his use of monitor lighting in the upper gal­ 
leries was hailed as a novel and appropriate solution to the problem of 
providing good light without glare. The museum and another Belluschi builc 
ing, The Finley Mortuary of 1937, were included in a 1938 list of the 100 
best buildings done in the United States in the preceding 20 years.

Pietro Belluschi was born in Italy in 1899. Following his graduation I 
from the University of Rome in 1922, he immigrated to America and continued] 
his studies at Cornell, In 1927 he joined the office of the prominent 
Portland architect A, E. Doyle and quickly rose to the position of chief 
designer. Following the death of Doyle in 1928 he assumed leadership of 
the firm, changing the name to A. E, Doyle and Associate in 1933, and 
Pietro Belluschi in 1943.

During the Thirties and Forties, Belluschi's work, especially resi­ 
dences and churches, began to show the development of an increasingly re<- 
gional character, which has since become known as the Northwest Style. It 
is characterized by low ;mansin|^ and ample roofs with a combination of hip 
and gable and broken slopes! "The(^pacial^sense of architecture is com­ 
bined with materials, especially tiJnBerand natural colors of the Pacific 
Northwest. Some faint Japanese influence may be felt, but by and large it 
is based on regional vernacular building forms and techniques.

The International style Equitable Building in Portland, completed in 
1948, firmly cemented Belluschi^ reputation as a versatile designer of 
material importance. He left Oregon in 1951 to become Dean of the School 
of Architecture and planning at The Massachusetts Institute of Technology, 
and has been the recipient of numerous honors and awards.

The des.ign of the Portland Art Museum has stood the test of time and 
changing tastes. Over forty years after its construction, it continues 
to stand with easy dignity, and is expected to grace Portland*s Park 
Blocks for some time to come.



Ross, Marion Dean, "The Museum Building as a Work of Art," Notes on the 
Collections of the Portland Art Museum, Number 7 (1967). Prepared 
as an insert with the Annual Report of the Portland Art Association 
1966-1967.

Ross, Marion Dean, "The Attainment and Restraint of Pietro Belluschi " 
AIA Journal, July. 1972.
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